
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT &j&? 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY 
CENTRAL DIVISION 

FRANKFORT &M .. " 2099 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

V. INDICTMENT NO. 08-21-SS-DCR 

LEONARD LAWSON, 
CHARLES WILLIAM "BILL" NIGHBERT, and 
BRIAN RUSSELL BILLINGS 

* * * * *  

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES: 

BACKGROUND 

1. At all times relevant, the Kentucky Transportation Cabinet (hereinafter KTC) 

was an agency of state government, within the purview of 18 U.S.C. tj 666(a)(l). The 

KTC has the responsibility of letting contracts to private entities for the construction and 

repair of state roads and highways. The funds for payment on the contracts constitute 

property within the care, custody, and control of an agency of state government, within 

the purview of 18 U.S.C. tj 666(a)(l)(A)(ii). 

2. At all relevant times, the KTC annually received millions of dollars of federal 

highway funds, and thus was a federally funded agency of state government, within the 

purview of 18 U.S.C. 3 666(b). 

3. From about 2005 until 2007, CHARLES WILLIAM "BILL" NIGHBERT 

(hereinafter "NIGHBERT") was the Secretary of the KTC, its chief administrative 



officer; was ultimately responsible for the process of letting the above-described 

contracts, and as such was in constructive possession of the funds for payment of said 

contracts. In that position, he was an agent of state government, within the purview of 18 

U.S.C. 666 (a)(l). 

4. At all relevant times, James Rummage (hereinafier “Rummage”) was an 

executive with the KTC and was a subordinate of NIGHBERT, and as such was an agent 

of state government, within the purview of 18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(1). 

5. At all relevant times, LEONARD LAWSON (hereinafter “LAWSON’) owned 

and operated road construction companies, through which he regularly submitted bids and 

obtained road construction and repair contracts with the KTC. 

6. At all relevant times, BRIAN RUSSELL BILLINGS (hereinafter “BILLINGS”) 

was an employee and officer of a road construction company owned and operated by 

LAWSON and was involved in the process of formulating and submitting bids for road 

contracts to the KTC on behalf of LAWSON’s companies. 

7. At all relevant times, the KTC utilized a formal process for letting the above- 

described road contracts, wherein construction contractors submitted sealed bids for the 

projects proposed by the KTC. As a means of determining the reasonableness of bids, a 

KTC engineer prepared, in advance of the bidding, an engineer’s estimate of cost for each 

project. 

8. At all relevant times, the engineer’s estimate was the confidential, proprietary 

property of the KTC and was not to be revealed outside the KTC until bids had been 



opened. 

9. At regularly scheduled meetings, personnel of the KTC opened all bids 

submitted by pre-qualified contractors on particular projects. The contract generally 

would be awarded to the lowest bidder, unless all bids were excessive. If only one bid 

was submitted, the decision on whether to award the contract to the sole bidder would be 

made by an awards committee taking into consideration the reasonableness of the bid in 

light of the engineer’s estimate. 

10. At all relevant times, the Office of the Inspector General of the KTC 

(hereinafter OIG) was the arm of the KTC with the responsibility for investigating and 

reporting violations of law, regulation, and ethics by personnel of the KTC. 

11. At all relevant times, it was well known within the management of the KTC 

that allegations of misappropriation, misapplication or theft of funds, property, and 

contracts of the KTC, and allegations that bribes w-ere paid to KTC employees, may be 

investigated and prosecuted by federal authorities. 

COUNT 1 
18 U.S.C. § 371 

1 .  The allegations contained in the Background above are restated and 

incorporated herein by reference. 

2. From in or about June 2006 and continuing through in or about September 

2008, at Franklin, Fayette, and Rowan Counties, and other places in the Eastern District 
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of Kentucky and elsewhere, 

CHARLES WILLIAM “BILL” NIGHBERT, 
LEONARD LAWSON, and 

BRIAN RUSSELL BILLINGS 

conspired together, with Rummage, and with others, known and unknown, to violate laws 

of the United States, that is, 18 U.S.C. 33 666(a)(l)(A) (in a twelve month period, 

stealing, obtaining by fraud, and converting to the use of a person other than the rightful 

owner, property within the care, custody, and control of the KTC, valued at more than 

$5,000, that is, the funds for payment on various road contracts, and the engineer’s 

estimates for those contracts); 18 U.S.C. 3 666(a)(l)(B) (corruptly giving to employees of 

the KTC, money, with the intent to influence and reward the employees in connection 

with business transactions of the KTC); 18 U.S.C. 3 666(a)(2) (corruptly receiving by 

employees of the KTC, money, with the intent to be influenced and rewarded in 

connection with business transactions of the KTC); 18 U.S.C. § 1512(b)(3) (attempting to 

corruptly persuade Rummage with the intent to prevent the communication of information 

to a law enforcement officer of the United States, relating to the commission of a federal 

offense); and 18 U.S.C. 3 1503 (corruptly endeavoring to influence, obstruct and impede 

the due administration of justice). 

OBJECTS OF THE CONSPIRACY 

3. The objects of the conspiracy were to: a) unlawfully provide LAWSON with 

confidential KTC engineer’s estimates for prospective road contracts which he could use 

in formulating his bid on those projects; b) to compensate NIGHBERT and Rummage for 
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their assistance in so doing; c) to groom and corruptly compromise Rummage as an inside 

KTC source of future confidential information and improper influence for LAWSON; and 

d) to conceal the compensation and misappropriations, as well as to obstruct state and 

federal investigations of their unlawful conduct, including influencing testimony, so as to 

insure that LAWSON collected the road contract funds, that NIGHBERT received his 

delayed compensation from LAWSON, and that Rummage continued his employment 

with the KTC. 

OVERT ACTS AND MANNER AND MEANS 

As part of the conspiracy, and in furtherance of its objects, the overt acts set forth 

in paragraphs 4 through 41, among many others, occurred in the Eastern District of 

Kentucky and elsewhere. 

4. In or about June 2006, NIGHBERT, in the presence of LAWSON, directed 

Rummage to obtain an engineer’s estimate for a prospective KTC project. 

5. In or about July 2006, NIGHBERT directed Rummage to obtain an engineer’s 

estimate for a prospective KTC project and deliver it to LAWSON. 

6. In or about July 2006, LAWSON gave $5,000 in cash to Rummage when 

Rummage, as directed by NIGHBERT, delivered to LAWSON an engineer’s estimate for 

a prospective KTC project, which payment Rummage understood to be a reward for 

obtaining and delivering engineer’s estimates. 

7. In or about September 2006, NIGHBERT, in the presence of LAWSON, and in 

response to concerns expressed by Rummage about obtaining the engineer‘s estimates, 
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assured Rummage that none of his co-conspirators would ever reveal their conspiracy, 

and that, if asked, they would assert that NIGHBERT needed the engineer’s estimates for 

budget or funding purposes. 

8. In addition to those instances described in paragraphs four and five above, 

either NIGHBERT or LAWSON directed Rummage to obtain from a KTC engineer the 

estimate(s) for prospective road contract(s) on approximately six additional occasions 

between June 2006 and August 2007. 

9. In addition to those instances described in paragraphs five and six, Rummage 

delivered the KTC engineer’s estimate(s) to LAWSON on approximately four other 

occasions between June 2006 and August 2007. On several other occasions, Rummage 

delivered the engineer’s estimate(s) to NIGHBERT for subsequent delively to LAWSON. 

10. On or about a date in November 2006, NIGHBERT told Rummage to obtain 

engineer’s estimates on projects unrelated to LAWSON to provide “camouflage” for the 

LAWSON contract estimates. 

1 1. In addition to the instance described in paragraph six above, LAWSON met 

with Rummage and gave Rummage $5,000 cash for his personal use on three other 

occasions, for a total of $20,000, all of which Rummage understood to be a reward for 

obtaining and delivering the engineer‘s estimates. 

12. On approximately ten occasions between June 2006 and August 2007, 

LAWSON used the KTC engineer’s estimates to determine the amount of his bid on a 
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particular contract. As of September 2008, KTC still owed LAWSON money on at least 

five of these contracts, collection of which by LAWSON would be jeopardized by 

revelation of the compromised bids. 

13. On or about a date in the summer of 2007, and after learning of Rummage’s 

plan to retire from the KTC, NIGHBERT offered, and ultimately gave, Rummage a pay 

raise in an effort to convince RUMMAGE not to retire. 

14. In or about October 2007, and after Rummage had retired from the KTC in 

August 2007, NIGHBERT and LAWSON contacted Rummage and requested that he 

come back to work with the KTC. 

15. In or about November 2007, LAWSON caused a utility management company 

in which he had a substantial ownership interest to hire NIGHBERT on a fake consulting 

contract in order to pay NIGHBERT over $10,000 a month, and provide him with a 

vehicle and health insurance. To hrther conceal these payments to NIGHBERT, the 

monthly salary payments were made by checks payable to Two Bucks, a fictitious 

corporation. 

16. In or about November 2007, LAWSON requested that Rummage apply for the 

State Highway Engineer position with the KTC and Rummage complied by submitting an 

application. 

17. In or about December 2007, LAWSON lobbied new KTC Secretary Joe 

Prather on behalf of Rummage and suggested to Secretaq Prather that Rummage be 
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appointed as the new State Highway Engineer. 

18. On or about January 7,2008, LAWSON caused to be transmitted to 

NIGHBERT $36,000 for the purchase of an automobile, disguised as part of an 

employment contract with a utility management company. 

19. During January 2008, Rummage, LAWSON and NIGHBERT discussed by 

phone the OIG investigation into Rummage obtaining engineer’s estimates from KTC. 

20. On or about January 24,2008, Rummage, NIGHBERT and LAWSON 

discussed by phone the upcoming KTC-OIG interview of Rummage, scheduled for 

January 25,2008. 

21. On or about January 25,2008, NIGI-FBERT called Rummage to confirm an in 

person meeting regarding the OIG interview. 

22. On or about January 25,2008, at a restaurant parking lot in Lexington, 

Kentucky, NIGHBERT met with Rummage to discuss what he should say in a scheduled 

interview with the OIG. At that time, NIGI-FBERT instructed Rummage to falsely state 

that he had obtained engineer’s estimates solely for the use by NIGHBERT for budget 

and funding purposes. 

23. On or about January 25,2008, and immediately following the meeting in the 

restaurant parking lot between NIGHBERT and Rummage, LAWSON called Rummage 

to discuss again his impending interview with the OIG and told Rummage to falsely say 

that he got the engineer’s estimates for NIGHBERT for budget and h d i n g  purposes, and 

8 



that he never gave them to anyone outside the KTC. 

24. On or about January 25,2008, the OIG conducted an interview with 

R u m a g e  about the above-referenced investigation. In his statement, and in accordance 

with his agreement with LAWSON and NIGHBERT, Rummage falsely stated that he 

obtained and gave the KTC engineer’s estimates solely to NIGHBERT for use in 

budgetary considerations and denied releasing the engineer’s estimates to anyone outside 

the KTC. 

25. On or about January 25,2008, and after Rummage’s OIG interview, 

NIGHBERT and LAWSON repeatedly attempted to contact Rummage by phone. 

26. On or about January 25,2008, LAWSON had one of his employees leave a 

message on Rummage’s voicemail that LAWSON needed to talk to him, and provided a 

phone number for LAWSON in Florida. 

27. On or about February 9,2008, LAWSON caused to be transmitted to 

NIGHBERT $10,4 17 as purported salary on the fake consulting contract. 

28. On or about February 27,2008, in an interview with the FBI, Rummage 

provided the same false story that he had provided to the OIG. 

29. On or about a date in late February or early March 2008, in a conversation 

with Governor Steve Beshear, LAWSON complained about the treatment of Rummage by 

members of the KTC. 

30. On or about March 6,2008, BILLINGS left a message on Rummage’s 

voicemail advising Rummage that BILLINGS had some information from LAWSON that 
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he needed to pass on to Rummage. 

3 1 .  On or about March 7,2008, BILLINGS called Rummage at his home and 

requested to meet him in person. Later that day, BILLINGS came to Rummage’s office 

in Lexington, Kentucky, and provided him with a phone number for Rummage to call 

LAWSON in Florida. 

32. On or about March 7,2008, Rummage called LAWSON in Florida using the 

number provided by Billings. In this conversation, LAWSON attempted to reassure 

Rummage that the investigation was not going anywhere and conuptly attempted to 

persuade Rummage to stick with the false story about the engineer’s estimates. 

33. On or about March 12,2008, after Rummage advised LAWSON that he was 

very afraid because he had just lied to the FBI in an interview- about the KTC engineer’s 

estimates and about receiving cash from LAWSON, and that he was served a subpoena to 

testify about the same matter to a federal grand jury, LAWSON reassured Rummage that 

everything would be alright, suggested false stories to explain the cash LAWSON had 

given Rummage, advised Rummage to falsely insist that the story previously told was the 

“truth,” encouraged Rummage to stick with the false story previously told, reassured 

Rummage that the government could not prove cash, reassured Rummage that he did not 

have to worry about NIGHBERT talking, offered to pay for an attorney for Rummage, 

and offered to have BILLINGS go with Rummage to meet with an attorney. 

34. On or about March 12, ZOOS, LAWSON spoke by phone a second time with 

Rummage. In this conversation LAWSON advised Rummage that they should be careful 
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about what they said on the telephone, advised him to see an attorney being provided by 

LAWSON, assured Rummage the FBI did not have a good case, told Rummage that the 

FBI would trap him, suggested false stories to explain cash, again encouraged Rummage 

to stick with the false story about the engineer‘s estimates, and offered to have 

BILLINGS come by to see Rummage if needed. 

35. On or about March 13,2008, BILLINGS met Rummage at a truck stop in 

Morehead, Kentucky, and while discussing a work related matter, wrote out questions 

regarding the investigation. 

36. On or about March 18,2008, after being told by Rummage that Rummage had 

given engineer’s estimates to LAWSON, BILLINGS assured Rummage that he had 

already looked at the projects that were subject to the investigation, that their numbers 

would not bear out that the estimates were used in the preparation of the bids, and that 

nothing would come of the investigation. 

37. On or about March 19,2008, BILLINGS met with Rummage at a restaurant in 

Lexington, Kentucky. While carrying on a conversation about the construction business, 

BILLINGS wrote questions on pieces of paper about the FBI investigation and 

Rummage’s progress in obtaining an attorney. 

38. On or about March 20,2008, BILLINGS met Rummage in a restaurant in 

Lexington, Kentucky. While carrying on a conversation about construction projects, 

BILLINGS wrote out questions about the FBI investigation for Rummage to answer, and 
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agreed to relay to LAWSON a request by RUMMAGE for money to help on his 

attorney’s fees. Further, BILLINGS encouraged Rummage to drop his current attorney 

and hire the one suggested by LAWSON. 

39. On or about March 24,2008, BILLINGS spoke with Rummage and agreed to 

meet the next day. BILLINGS assured Rummage that at their next meeting he would 

have funds for Rummage from LAWSON to be used to pay for Rummage’s attorney. 

40. On or about March 25,2008, BlLLINGS met Rummage in a hotel parking lot 

in Lexington, Kentucky. While seated in an automobile, BILLINGS signaled Rummage 

not to speak out loud. BELINGS then made a statement out loud that LAWSON said he 

was not going to pay Rummage’s attorneys fees. BILLINGS hrther began to silently 

communicate with Rummage about the FBI investigation by revealing previously typed 

messages on his cell phone and showing them to Rummage. These messages again 

encouraged Rummage to drop his current attorney and take the one selected by 

LAWSON. 

41. On or about March 26,2008, in a phone conversation with Rummage, and 

after Rummage informed LAWSON that Rummage was thinking about taking the advice 

of an attorney and cooperating with the FBI by telling the truth in exchange for immunity, 

LAWSON then advised Rummage that he should change attorneys and not cooperate or 

accept immunity from the FBI. LAWSON warned Rummage that cooperating with the 

FBI would cause LAWSON major problems, told Rummage he still had a good future if 

he wanted it, but warned Rummage that testifjing against LAWSON would have grave 
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consequences for Rummage’s future. LAWSON falsely told Rummage that Rummage’s 

attorney was incompetent and unstable, reassured Rummage that the attorney that 

LAWSON was offering him knew how to handle the FBI, and had other abilities that he 

was not free to discuss on the phone, and assured him that BILLWGS had given 

Rummage good advice. 

All in violation 18 U.S.C. 5 371. 

COUNT 2 
18 U.S.C. 5 666(a)(l)(A) 

18 U.S.C. 5 2 

THEFT AND CONVERSION OF PROPERTY 

1. The allegations contained in the Background are restated and incorporated 

herein by reference. 

2. In the period of twelve consecutive months between July 1; 2006 and July 1, 

2007, at Franklin and Fayette Counties, in the Eastern District of Kentucky and 

elsewhere, 

CHARLES WILLIAM “BILL” NIGHBERT, 

aided and abetted by Rummage and others known and unknown, being an employee and 

agent of a state government agency that received more than $10,000 of federal funds in a 

twelve month period did embezzle, steal, obtain by fraud, and otherwise without 

authority, convert to the use of a person other than the rightful owner, property in the 

care, custody, and control of that agency, that is, the funds to pay road contracts and the 

engineer’s estimates for those contracts, in an amount in excess of $5,000, in that he 
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caused to be provided to a bidder on road contracts confidential information that was used 

to compromise the bidding process and artificially increase the amount of the contract, as 

more particularly described in Count I, all in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(l)(A) and 

18 U.S.C. 9 2. 

COUNT 3 
18 U.S.C. 666(a)(2) 

I .  The allegations contained in the Background are restated and incorporated 

herein by reference. 

2. From in or about June 2006, and continuing through in or about August 2007, 

in Franklin and Fayette Counties in the Eastern District of Kentucky and elsewhere, 

LEONARD LAWSON 

did corruptly give to Rummage, an agent of State government, $20,000 with the intent to 

influence and reward Rummage in connection with business, transactions, and a series of 

transactions of the KTC, involving road contracts and engineers' estimates of value in 

excess of $5,000, in that he gave money to Rummage in connection with the acts of 

providing confidential KTC engineer estimates for road contracts to LAWSON, as more 

particularly described in Count 1,  all in violation of 18 U.S.C. 5 666(a)(2). 

COUNT 4 
18 U.S.C. 666(a)(2) 

1. The allegations contained in the Background are restated and incorporated 

herein by reference. 

2. From in or about a January 2008, and continuing through in or about April 
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2008, in Franklin and Fayette Counties, in the Eastern District of Kentucky and 

elsewhere, 

LEONARD LAWSON 

did corruptly give to NIGHBERT, an agent of State government, $67,25 1 with the intent 

to reward NIGHBERT in connection with business, transactions, and a series of 

transactions of the KTC, involving road contracts and engineers’ estimates of value in 

excess of $5,000, in that he gave money to NIGHBERT in consideration of the acts of 

providing confidential KTC engineer estimates on road contracts to LAWSON, as more 

particularly described in Count 1, all in violation of 18 U.S.C. 5 666(a)(2). 

COUNT 5 
18 U.S.C. 666(a)(l)(B) 

1. The allegations contained in the Background are restated and incorporated 

herein by reference. 

2. From in or about June 2006 and August 2007 in Franklin and Fayette Counties, 

and other places in the Eastern District of Kentucky and elsewhere, 

CHARLES WILLIAM “BILL” NIGHBERT, 

being an agent of state government, did corruptly agree to accept, and did accept between 

January 2008 and September 2008, money from LAWSON, with the intent to be 

rewarded in connection with business, transactions, and a series of transactions of the 

KTC, involving road contracts and engineers’ estimates of value in excess of $5,000, in 

that he accepted money in consideration of the acts of providing confidential KTC 
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engineer estimates on road contracts to LAWSON, as more particularly described in 

Count 1, all in violation of 18 U.S.C. 5 666(a)(l)(B). 

COUNT 6 
18 U.S.C. 5 1503 

18 U.S.C. ?j 2 

From on or about a date in January 2008, until on or about a date in April 2008, at 

Franklin, Fayette, and Rowan Counties and other places in the Eastern District of 

Kentucky, 

LEONARD LAWSON, 
BRIAN RUSSELL BILLINGS, and 

CHARLES WILLIAM "BILL" NIGHBERT, 

aided and abetted by one another, did knowingly and corruptly endeavor to influence, 

obstruct and impede the due administration ofjustice, by attempting to influence the 

testimony of Rummage before a federal grand jury and by attempting to persuade him not 

to cooperate with federal law enforcement or to implicate others in a crime, as more 

specifically set forth in the overt acts in Count 1, above, all in violation of 18 U.S.C. $ 5  

1503 and 2. 

COUNT 7 
18 U.S.C. 5 1512(b)(3) 

18 U.S.C. 5 2 

From on or about a date in January 2008, until on or about a date in April 2008, at 

F r d l i n ,  Fayette, and Rowan Counties, and other places in the Eastern District of 

Kentucky, 
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LEONARD LAWSON, 
BRIAN RUSSELL BILLINGS, and 

CHARLES WILLIAM “BILL” NIGHBERT, 

aided and abetted by one another, did knowingly attempt to corruptly persuade James 

Rummage with the intent to prevent the communication of information to a law 

enforcement officer of the United States relating to the commission and possible 

commission of a Federal offense, as more specifically set out in the overt acts in Count 1,  

above, all in violation18 U.S.C. 5 1512(b)(3) and 2. 

A TRUE BILL 

FOI~EPERSON 
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PENALTIES 

COUNTS 1: Not more than 5 years imprisonment, $250,000 fine, and 3 years 
supervised release. 

COUNTS2-7: Not more than 10 years imprisonment, $250,000 fine, and 3 years 
supervised release. 

PLUS: 

PLUS: Restitution, if applicable. 

Mandatory special assessment of $100 per count. 
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